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On behalf of the Board of 
Directors, it is my pleasure 
to present the Annual Report 
of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) 
Berhad for the financial 

year ended 31 
March 2009. 
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General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka 

Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd. Ali (Rtd)
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Directors’ Profi le
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Directors’ Profi le (Contd.)
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Directors’ Profi le (Contd.)
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Directors’ Profi le (Contd.)
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Statement on Corporate Governance

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Statement on Corporate Governance (Contd.)

 

 
(Managing Director)
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Statement on Corporate Governance
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Statement on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Statement on Corporate Governance (Contd.)

    

(Managing Director) (resigned w.e.f. 30 June 2009)

 (Managing Director) (appointed w.e.f. 1 July 2009) 

   

 Fees   155 210  
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Statement on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Statement on Corporate Governance (Contd.)
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Additional Compliance Information
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in Relation to the

Financial Statements



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 19

Statement on Internal Control

INTRODUCTION

 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTIONS
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Statement on Internal Control (Contd.)

CONCLUSION
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Audit Committee Report
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Audit Committee Report (Contd.)
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Audit Committee Report (Contd.)
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Audit Committee Report (Contd.)

 



ANNUAL REPORT 2009 25

Audit Committee Report (Contd.)
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Analysis Of Shareholdings As At 30 June 2009

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
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Analysis Of Shareholdings As At 30 June 2009 (Contd.)
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Financial Highlights

        2005 2006 2007 2008
        
 

     166,869  170,593  190,629  215,462   
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ report 
 
The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Economic Entity (comprising 
the Company and the equity accounted associate) and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.

 
Principal activities
 
The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products. There have 
been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

 
Results 
 
            Economic  
            Entity   Company 
            RM   RM 
 
Profit for the year       18,964,365   19,072,212 
 

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Economic Entity and of the Company during the financial year were 
not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

 
Dividends 
 
The amount of dividends paid by the Company since 31 March 2008 were as follows:
 
              RM 
 
In respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008 as reported in the  directors’ report of that year 
 
First and final dividend of 8% less 26% taxation and 7% tax exempt,  declared on 20 August 2008 and paid 
 on 18 September 2008      7,855,171 
 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2009, of 8% less 
25% taxation and 9% tax exempt on 60,798,534 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM9,119,780 (15 sen net per share) 
will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. 
Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained profits in 
the financial year ending 31 March 2010.
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Directors’ Report

Directors 
 
The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are:
 
General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali (Rtd) 
Mitsunobu Suzumi 
Hitoshi Sasaki 
Koay Kah Ee 
Tee Ju Mian 
Makoto Tatsumi  
Dato’ Professor (Dr.) Teo Chiang Liang  
Adinan bin Husin  
Dr. Goh Chin Siew  
Mazlan bin Ab. Rahman  
Gew Ah Lek  
Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron  
Hiroyuki Furusawa (resigned on 27 June 2008) 

 
Directors’ benefits 

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company was a 
party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other 
body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits included 
in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors as shown in Note 7 of the financial statements or 
the fixed salary of a full time employee) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with any director or with 
a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

 
Directors’ interests 
 
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in the 
Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:
 
   Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each  
          At     At 
          1.04.2008   Acquired   Sold   31.03.2009 
 
The Company 
 
Direct interest 
Mitsunobu Suzumi    2,398   -   -   2,398 
Gew Ah Lek       6,000   -   -   6,000 
Dr. Goh Chin Siew     -   6,000   -   6,000 
 
Indirect interest 
Dato’ Professor (Dr.) Teo 
Chiang Liang      150,000   -   -   150,000 
Dr. Goh Chin Siew     -   3,000   -   3,000 
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Directors’ Report (Contd.)

Directors’ interests (Contd.)

   Number of shares of Japanese Yen 50 each  
          At     At 
          1.04.2008   Acquired   Sold   31.03.2009 

Holding company  
  - Ajinomoto Co. Inc. 
 
Direct interest 
Mitsunobu Suzumi    577   213   -   790 
Hitoshi Sasaki      3,972   162   -   4,134 
Makoto Tatsumi     348   108   -   456 
 
None of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations 
during the financial year.
 
Other statutory information 
 
(a) Before the income statements and balance sheets of the Economic Entity and of the Company were made out, the directors took 

reasonable steps:
 

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for 
doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been 
made for doubtful debts; and 

(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in the 
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

 
(b) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render:
 

(i) the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the 
Economic Entity and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; and 

 
(ii) the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Economic Entity and of the Company 

misleading.
 
(c) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render adherence to 

the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Economic Entity and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
 
(d) At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial 

statements of the Economic Entity and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist: 

(i) any charge on the assets of the Economic Entity and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year 
which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

 
(ii) any contingent liability of the Economic Entity and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.
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Other statutory information (contd.) 
 
(f) In the opinion of the directors: 
 

(i) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve 
months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Economic Entity and of the Company to 
meet their obligations when they fall due; and

 
(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial 

year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Economic Entity and 
of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

 
 
Auditors 
 
The auditors, Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 
   
   
Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 25 June 2009.

   
General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka    Mitsunobu Suzumi
  Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali (Rtd)   

Directors’ Report (Contd.)
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Statement By Directors

Statutory Declaration

Pursuant To Section 169 (15) Of The Companies Act, 1965

Pursuant To Section 169 (16) Of The Companies Act, 1965

We, General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali (Rtd) and Mitsunobu Suzumi, being two of the directors of 
Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on 
pages 35 to 74 are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable Financial Reporting Standards 
in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Economic Entity and of the Company as at 31 March 2009 and 
of the results and the cash flows of the Economic Entity and of the Company for the year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 25 June 2009.

   
General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka    Mitsunobu Suzumi
  Mohamed Hashim bin Mohd Ali (Rtd)  

I, Gew Ah Lek, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad, do solemnly and 
sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 35 to 74 are in my opinion correct, and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.
 

 
Subscribed and solemnly declared by 
the abovenamed Gew Ah Lek at 
Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory 
on 25 June 2009 Gew Ah Lek 
 
 
Before me, 

R. Vasugi Ammal, PJK
(W480)
Commissioner for Oaths
Kuala Lumpur
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Independent Auditors’ Report To The Members Of

Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad

Report on the financial statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad, which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2009 of 
the Economic Entity and of the Company, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the 
Economic Entity and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, as set out on pages 35 to 74. 
 
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
applicable Approved Accounting Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the circumstances.
 
Auditors’ responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with applicable Approved Accounting Standards and 
the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Economic Entity and of the Company 
as at 31 March 2009 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia, we also report that in our opinion, the accounting and other 
records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act.
 
Other matters 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act 1965 in 
Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.
 
 
 
Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad Abdul Rauf bin Rashid 
AF: 0002 No. 2305/05/10 
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant 
 
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 
25 June 2009   
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Income Statements For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

    Economic Entity   Company  
        Note  2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
Revenue      3 243,838,799  215,462,459   243,838,799   215,462,459 
Other income     4 4,387,766  3,493,689   4,387,766   17,205,836 
Changes in inventories of finished goods, 
  work in progress and goods-in-transit  9,219,317  (321,473)  9,219,317  (321,473)
Raw materials and packaging materials consumed   (155,094,975) (114,201,038)  (155,094,975) (114,201,038)
Finished goods purchased   (8,061,329) (5,025,774)  (8,061,329) (5,025,774)
Staff costs      5 (29,049,802) (27,117,151) (29,049,802) (27,117,151)
Depreciation and amortisation  (9,534,228) (8,740,933)  (9,534,228) (8,740,933)
Impairment of assets   399,605  164,220   399,605   164,220 
Other operating expenses  (30,427,115) (37,045,175)  (30,427,115) (37,045,175)
 

Operating profit    25,678,038  26,668,824   25,678,038   40,380,971 
Share of (loss)/profit of associate  (107,847) 604,007   -   - 
 

Profit before tax   6 25,570,191  27,272,831   25,678,038   40,380,971 
Income tax expense  8 (6,605,826) (6,332,786)  (6,605,826) (8,396,507)
 

Profit for the year    18,964,365  20,940,045   19,072,212   31,984,464 
 

Earnings per share attributable to equity 
  holders of the Company (sen)  
-  Basic      9 31.2  34.4
 

Net dividends per share (sen) 10   12.92  8.92 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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Balance Sheets As At 31 March 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

    Economic Entity   Company  
        Note  2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
Assets 
 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 11 59,544,017  46,402,364   60,798,913   47,657,260 
Prepaid land lease payments 12 35,169,607  35,866,381   39,510,974   40,207,748 
Investment in associate 13 3,112,601  3,220,448   1,348,751   1,348,751 
Other investments  14 1,123,377  1,252,063   1,123,377   1,252,063 
 

         98,949,602  86,741,256  102,782,015   90,465,822 
 

Current assets 
Inventories     15 46,356,553  32,383,255   46,356,553   32,383,255 
Trade and other receivables 16 30,099,502  27,863,680   30,099,502   27,863,680 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 43,221,990  66,193,647   43,221,990   66,193,647 
 

         119,678,045  126,440,582   119,678,045   126,440,582 
 

Total assets      218,627,647  213,181,838   222,460,060   216,906,404 
 

Equity and liabilities 
 
Equity attributable to equity
 holders of the Company 
Share capital    21 60,798,534  60,798,534   60,798,534   60,798,534 
Share premium    21 4,303,700  4,303,700   4,303,700   4,303,700 
Reserves      22 120,362,350  109,253,156   124,194,763   112,977,722 
 

Total equity      185,464,584  174,355,390   189,296,997   178,079,956 
 

Non-current liabilities 
 
Retirement benefit obligations 18 5,052,251  4,461,628   5,052,251   4,461,628 
Deferred tax liabilities 20 4,487,325  4,088,518   4,487,325   4,088,518 
 

         9,539,576  8,550,146   9,539,576    8,550,146 
 

Equity and liabilities 
 
Current liabilities 
Retirement benefit obligations 18  320,578  296,972   320,578   296,972 
Trade and other payables 19  22,857,239  28,230,809   22,857,239   28,230,809 
Current tax payable   445,670  1,748,521   445,670   1,748,521 
 

         23,623,487  30,276,302   23,623,487   30,276,302 
 

Total liabilities     33,163,063  38,826,448   33,163,063   38,826,448 
 

Total equity and liabilities  218,627,647  213,181,838   222,460,060   216,906,404
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Economic Entity’s Statements Of Changes In Equity
For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

  Attributable to equity holders of the Company 
   <--------------- Non-distributable reserves -------------->  Distributable  
     reserves  
 
     Share   Share   Revaluation   Other   Retained  
     capital   premium   reserves   reserves   earnings   Total 
     RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 
   Note  (Note 21)   (Note 21)   (Note 22)   (Note 22)   (Note 22)  

At 1 April 2007   60,798,534   4,303,700   7,020,619   2,030,007   84,685,716   158,838,576 
Transfer from revaluation 
 reserves to retained profits   -   -   (121,871)  -   121,871   - 
Associate: 
Transfer from revaluation 
 reserves to retained profits   -   -   -   (2,030,007)  2,030,007   - 
Profit for the year   -   -   -   -   20,940,045   20,940,045 
Dividends 10   -   -   -   -   (5,423,231) (5,423,231)

At 31 March 2008    60,798,534   4,303,700   6,898,748   -   102,354,408   174,355,390 
 
At 1 April 2008   60,798,534   4,303,700   6,898,748   -   102,354,408   174,355,390 
Transfer from revaluation 
 reserves to retained profits   -   -   (121,871)  -   121,871   - 
Profit for the year   -   -   -   -   18,964,365   18,964,365 
Dividends 10   -   -   -   -   (7,855,171) (7,855,171)

At 31 March 2009   60,798,534   4,303,700   6,776,877   -   113,585,473   185,464,584 
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Company’s Statements Of Changes In Equity

For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

    <---------------  Non-distributable -------------->   Distributable  
          Share   Share   Revaluation   Retained   Total 
          capital   premium   reserves   earnings   equity 
          RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 
        Note  (Note 21)   (Note 21)   (Note 22)   (Note 22)  
 
At 1 April 2007      60,798,534   4,303,700   7,020,619   79,395,870   151,518,723 
Transfer from revaluation 
 reserves to retained profits   -   -   (121,871)  121,871   - 
Profit for the year, representing 
 total recognised income and 
 expense for the year   -   -   -   31,984,464   31,984,464 
Dividends     10  -   -   -   (5,423,231) (5,423,231)

At 31 March 2008     60,798,534  4,303,700  6,898,748   106,078,974  178,079,956 
 
At 1 April 2008      60,798,534  4,303,700  6,898,748   106,078,974   178,079,956 
Transfer from revaluation reserves 
 to retained profits    -   -   (121,871)  121,871   - 
Profit for the year, representing 
 total recognised income and 
 expense for the year   -   -   -   19,072,212   19,072,212 
Dividends     10  -   -   -   (7,855,171) (7,855,171)

At 31 March 2009     60,798,534   4,303,700   6,776,877  117,417,886   189,296,997 
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Cash Flow Statements For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

    Economic Entity   Company  
        Note  2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
 
Profit before tax     25,570,191  27,272,831  25,678,038  40,380,971 
Adjustments for: 
Short-term accumulating 
 compensated absences 5  23,907  100,492  23,907  100,492 
Interest income   4  (1,661,565) (1,851,388) (1,661,565) (1,851,388)
Dividend income   4   -   -   -  (13,712,147)
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment   6  8,837,454  8,242,387  8,837,454  8,242,387 
Amortisation of prepaid land  
 lease payment   6  696,774  498,546   696,774   498,546 
Provision for doubtful debts 6  34,239  130,646   34,239  130,646 
Inventories written off 6  971,556  985,460   971,556  985,460 
Property, plant and equipment written off 6  68,761  308,751   68,761   308,751 
Impairment loss/(reversal) 6  224,686  (117,621) 224,686  (117,621)
Gain on disposal of property, plant 
 and equipment   4  (371,808) (602,296) (371,808) (602,296)
Provision for post- employment benefits 5  1,486,408  907,398  1,486,408  907,398 
Share of loss/(profit) of associated company  107,847  (604,007)  -   - 
 

Operating profit before working capital changes  35,988,450  35,271,199  35,988,450  35,271,199 
 Increase in inventories  (14,944,854) (8,264,690) (14,944,854) (8,264,690)
 Increase in trade and other receivables  (2,270,061) (3,403,640) (2,270,061) (3,403,640)
 (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (5,397,477) 2,510,695  (5,397,477) 2,510,695 
 

Cash generated from operations  13,376,058  26,113,564  13,376,058  26,113,564 
 Taxes paid     (7,509,870) (4,600,744) (7,509,870) (4,600,744)
 Payments of post-employment benefits  (872,179) (682,977) (872,179) (682,977)
 

Net cash generated from operating activities  4,994,009  20,829,843  4,994,009  20,829,843 
 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11  (22,069,660) (9,883,647) (22,069,660) (9,883,647)
Purchase of investment  (96,000)  -  (96,000)  - 
Purchase of prepaid land lease payments 12   -  (17,624,500)  -  (17,624,500)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
 and equipment    393,600  602,296  393,600  602,296 
Interest received    1,661,565  1,851,388  1,661,565  1,851,388 
Dividend received     -  11,648,426   -  11,648,426 
 

Net cash used in investing activities  (20,110,495) (13,406,037) (20,110,495) (13,406,037)
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Cash Flow Statements For The Year Ended 31 March 2009

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements

    Economic Entity   Company  
        Note  2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Dividends paid    10  (7,855,171) (5,423,231) (7,855,171) (5,423,231)
 

Net cash used in financing activities  (7,855,171) (5,423,231) (7,855,171) (5,423,231)
 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
 cash equivalents   (22,971,657) 2,000,575  (22,971,657) 2,000,575 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  66,193,647  64,193,072  66,193,647  64,193,072 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17  43,221,990  66,193,647  43,221,990  66,193,647
 

(Contd.)
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1. Corporate information 
 
 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on the Main Board of 

Bursa Malaysia Securities. The registered office of the Company is located at Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama, Petaling, 58200 Kuala 
Lumpur.

 
 The holding company is Ajinomoto Co., a corporation incorporated in Japan.
 
 The principal activities of the Company are manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products. There 

have been no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.
 
 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 25 

June 2009.
 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
 The financial statements of the Economic Entity comprise the Company and the Company’s interest in its associate (together 

referred to as the Economic Entity).

 The financial statements of the Economic Entity and of the Company are prepared under the historical cost convention 
unless otherwise indicated in the summary of significant accounting policies below and comply with applicable Financial 
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965.

 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM).
 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Associate 
 
 Associates are entities in which the Company has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest 

in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but not in control or joint control over those policies.

 
 Investments in associates are accounted for in the Economic Entity financial statements using the equity method of 

accounting. Under the equity method, the investment in associate is carried in the Economic Entity balance sheet at 
cost adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Economic Entity’s share of net assets of the associate. The Economic 
Entity’s share of the net profit or loss of the associate is recognised in the Economic Entity income statement. Where 
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Economic Entity recognises its share of 
such changes.  

 In applying the equity method, unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Economic Entity and the 
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Economic Entity’s interest in the associate. After application of the equity 
method, the Economic Entity determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with 
respect to the Economic Entity’s net investment in the associate. The associate is equity accounted for from the date 
the Economic Entity obtains significant influence until the date the Economic Entity ceases to have significant influence 
over the associate. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) Associate (contd.)

 Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised. Any excess 
of the Economic Entity’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of the investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment and is instead 
included as income in the determination of the Economic Entity’s share of the associate’s profit or loss in the period in 
which the investment is acquired.

 When the Economic Entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Economic Entity’s net investment in the associates, the 
Economic Entity does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the associate.

 
 The most recent available audited financial statements or management financial statements of the associates are used 

by the Economic Entity in applying the equity method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are 
not coterminous with those of the Economic Entity, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial 
statements available and management financial statements to the end of the accounting period. Uniform accounting 
policies are adopted for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses.

 On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included 
in profit or loss.

 
(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Economic Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment except for freehold land are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

 Freehold land is stated at revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Fair value is determined from market-based evidence by appraisal that is undertaken by 
professionally qualified valuers. Land and buildings of the Company have not been revalued since they were last 
revalued in 1984. The directors have not adopted a policy of regular revaluations of such assets. As permitted under 
the transitional provisions of International Accounting Standards 16 (Revised): Property, Plant and Equipment adopted 
by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”), these assets continue to be stated at their 1984 valuation less 
accumulated depreciation.

 Any revaluation surplus is credited to the revaluation reserve included within equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in the income statement, in which case the 
increase is recognised in the income statement to the extent of the decrease previously recognised. A revaluation 
deficit is first offset against unutilised previously recognised revaluation surplus in respect of the same asset and the 
balance is thereafter recognised in the income statement. Upon disposal or retirement of an asset, any revaluation 
reserve relating to the particular asset is transferred directly to retained earnings.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

 Capital work-in-progress is not depreciated. Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not 
depreciated.

 Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of 
each asset to its residual value over the estimated useful life, at the following annual rates:

 Buildings  7% to 11% 
 Motor vehicles 17% 
 Plant, machinery and equipment 7% to 25% 
 Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10% 

 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the 
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the net carrying 
amount is recognised in the income statement and the unutilised portion of the revaluation surplus on that item is 
taken directly to retained earnings.

(c) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 The carrying amounts of assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.

 For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis 
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the 
case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs to. Goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Economic Entity’s CGUs, or 
groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the Economic Entity are assigned to those units or groups of units. 

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying 
amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 

 
 An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrease to the extent that the 
impairment loss does not exceed the amount held in the asset revaluation reserve for the same asset. 

 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset is 
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried 
at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

(d) Inventories  
 
 Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of raw materials comprises costs of purchase. The 
costs of finished goods and work-in-progress comprise costs of raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and 
appropriate proportions of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. 

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

 
(e) Financial instruments 
 
 Financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet when the Economic Entity has become a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.
 
 Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 

arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are reported 
as expense or income. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to 
equity. Financial instruments are offset when the Economic Entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
to settle either on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

 
(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at bank, 

deposits at call and short term highly liquid investment which have an insignificant risk of changes in value, net 
of outstanding bank overdrafts.

 
(ii) Other non-current investments 

 Non-current investments other than investments in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses. On 
disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised 
in the income statement.

(iii) Marketable securities 
 
 Marketable securities are carried at the lower of cost and market value, determined on an aggregate basis. 

Cost is determined on the weighted average basis while market value is determined based on quoted market 
values. Increases or decreases in the carrying amount of marketable securities are recognised in profit or loss. 
On disposal of marketable securities, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is 
recognised in the income statement.

 
(iv) Trade and other receivables 
 
 Receivables are carried at anticipated realisable values. Bad debts are written off when identified. An estimate 

is made for doubtful debt based on a review of all outstanding amounts as at the balance sheet date.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

(e) Financial instruments (contd.) 

(v) Trade and other payables 
 
 Payables are stated at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and 

services received.
 
(vi) Equity instruments 
 
 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in 

which they are declared.
 
 The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax. Equity 

transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction 
which would otherwise have been avoided. 

 
(f) Income tax 
 
 Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount of 

income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax is not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or negative goodwill or from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit. 

 Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
Deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in the income statement for the period, except when 
it arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised 
directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred tax 
is included in the resulting goodwill or the amount of any excess of the acquirer’s interest is the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the combination.

 
(g) Provision for liabilities 
 
 Provisions are recognised when the Economic Entity or the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

 



AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD46

Notes to the Financial Statements 31 March 2009 (Contd.)

2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

(h) Employee benefits 

(i) Short term benefits 

 Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the year in which 
the associated services are rendered by employees. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as 
paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to 
future compensated absences, and short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are 
recognised when the absences occur.

(ii) Defined contribution plans 

 Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Economic Entity pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if any of the funds do not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee 
services in the current and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement as incurred. As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such contributions to the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).

 The Economic Entity also has a partly funded defined contribution benefit Post-Employment Scheme for 
employees and executives who have served the required number of years of service. Contributions are made to 
approved benefit schemes operated by independent trustees in accordance with a trust deed.

(i) Foreign currencies 

(i) Functional and presentation currency

 The individual financial statements of each entity under the Economic Entity are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial 
statements of the Economic Entity are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the Company’s functional 
currency.

(ii) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange ruling at the 
dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into 
Ringgit Malaysia at exchange rates ruling at that date, unless hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts, in 
which case the rates specified in such forward contracts are used. Non-monetary items initially denominated in 
foreign currencies, which are carried at historical cost are not translated. Non-monetary items which are carried 
at fair value are translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined. All exchange 
rate differences are taken to the income statement.

(j) Leases 

(i) Classification 

 A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Economic Entity all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Leases of land and buildings are classified as operating or finance leases in the same 
way as leases of other assets and the land and buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered 
separately for the purposes of lease classification. All leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards are classified as operating leases except for land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair 
value of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception 
of the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held under 
an operating lease.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

(j) Leases (contd.) 
 

(ii) Finance leases - the Economic Entity as lessee 

 Assets acquired by way of hire purchase or finance leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair 
values and the present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the leases, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. The corresponding liability is included in the balance sheet as borrowings. 
In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the discount factor used is the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, when it is practicable to determine; otherwise, the Economic Entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate is used. Any initial direct costs are also added to the carrying amount of such assets.

 Lease payments are apportioned between the finance costs and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 
Finance costs, which represent the difference between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of 
the assets acquired, are recognised in the profit or loss over the term of the relevant lease so as to produce a 
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period.

 The depreciation policy for leased assets is in accordance with that for depreciable property, plant and equipment 
as described in Note 2.2(b). 

 
(iii) Operating leases - the Economic Entity as lessee
 
 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

 
 In the case of a lease of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments or the up-front payments made are 

allocated, whenever necessary, between the land and the buildings elements in proportion to the relative fair 
values for leasehold interests in the land element and buildings element of the lease at the inception of the 
lease. The up-front payment represents prepaid lease payments and are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

 
(k) Affiliated companies 
 
 Affiliated companies refer to associated companies of the holding company.
 
(l) Revenue recognition 
 
 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Economic Entity and 

the revenue can be reliably measured. 
 

(i) Sale of goods 
 
 Revenue is recognised net of sales taxes and upon transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership to the 

buyer. Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of 
the consideration due, associated costs or the possible return of goods.

 
(ii) Interest income 
 
 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (contd.)

 (l) Revenue recognition (contd.)

(iii) Dividend income 

 Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

(iv) Other income 

 Other than those mentioned above, all other income are recognised on accrual basis unless collectibility is in 
doubt.

 2.3 Changes in accounting policies and effects arising from adoption of new and revised financial reporting standards 

 On 1 April 2008, the Economic Entity adopted the following revised FRS amendments to FRS and Interpretations:

 FRS 107  Cash Flow Statements 
 FRS 111  Construction Contracts 
 FRS 112  Income Taxes 
 FRS 118  Revenue  
 FRS 120  Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance 
 FRS 134  Interim Financial Reporting  
 FRS 137  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 Amendment to FRS 121  The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 
 IC Interpretation 1  Changes in Existing Decommissioning Resources and Similar Liabilities 
 IC Interpretation 2  Members’ Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments 
 IC Interpretation 5  Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environment Rehabilitation 

Funds 
 IC Interpretation 6  Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment 
 IC Interpretation 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies 
 IC Interpretation 8  Scope of FRS 2 Share-based Payment 

 The revised FRS, amendment to FRS and Interpretations above do not have any significant impact on the financial statements 
of the Economic Entity.

2.4 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new FRS and Interpretations were issued but not yet 
effective and have not been applied by the Economic Entity:

   Effective for 
   financial periods 
   beginning on 
 FRS, Amendment to FRS and Interpretations  or after 

 FRS 4: Insurance Contracts  1 January 2010 
 FRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures  1 January 2010 
 FRS 8: Operating Segments  1 July 2009 
 FRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  1 January 2010 
 IC Interpretation 9: Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives  1 January 2010 
 IC Interpretation 10: Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment  1 January 2010 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Contd.) 

 2.4 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (contd.)

 The new FRS and Interpretations above are expected to have no significant impact on the financial statements of the 
Economic Entity upon their initial application except for the changes in disclosures arising from the adoption of FRS 7 and 
FRS 8. 

 
 The Economic Entity is exempted from disclosing the possible impact, if any, to the financial statements upon the initial 

application of FRS 139.
 
2.5 Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
 
 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below:

 
 Depreciation of plant and machinery 

 The cost of plant and machinery is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ useful lives. Management estimates 
the useful lives of these plant and machinery to be within 4 to 15 years. These are based on past life expectancies of the plant 
and machinery used. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economical 
useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

 Deferred tax 
 
 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital allowances, unused reinvestment allowances 

and other temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses, capital allowances, unused reinvestment allowances and other temporary differences can be utilised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the 
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details of the recognised 
deferred tax assets are disclosed in Note 20.

 
 Tax provisions 
 
 Significant judgement and estimates are used in arriving at taxable profits for the year and for prior years, including 

assessing the deductibility of expense items for tax purposes. Management are guided by tax laws/cases on such instances. 
Management believes that all deductions claimed, in arriving at taxable profits for current and prior years, are appropriate 
and justifiable.
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3. Revenue 
 
     Economic Entity
     and Company 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Sale of goods      243,838,799   215,462,459 
 

 
4. Other income 
 
    Economic Entity   Company  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  Miscellaneous income  1,673,975   1,013,005  1,673,975  1,013,005 
  Interest income  1,661,565   1,851,388  1,661,565  1,851,388 
  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  371,808   602,296   371,808   602,296 
  Foreign exchange gain 
  -  Realised     269,684   -   269,684   - 
  -  Unrealised    410,734   -   410,734   - 
  Dividends received   -   -   -  13,712,147 
  Management fee   -   27,000   -  27,000 
 

         4,387,766  3,493,689   4,387,766    17,205,836 
 

 
5. Employee benefits expenses 
 
     Economic Entity
     and Company 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Wages and salaries     24,042,491   23,064,953 
  Gratuity        62,000   48,000 
  Pension costs - defined contribution plans     2,026,138   1,876,341 
  Pension costs - defined contribution plans maintained  by the Company (Note 18)   1,486,408   907,398 
  Social security costs     200,325   183,519 
  Short term accumulating compensated absences     23,907   100,492 
  Other staff related expenses     1,208,533   936,448 
 

           29,049,802   27,117,151 
 

 Included in employee benefits expense of the Economic Entity and of the Company are executive directors’ remuneration amounting 
to RM2,534,329 (2008: RM2,537,030) as further disclosed in Note 7.
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6. Profit before taxation 
 
 The following amounts have been included in arriving at profit before taxation: 
 
    Economic Entity   Company  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 

  Employee benefits expenses (Note 5)   29,049,802   27,117,151   29,049,802   27,117,151 
  Non-executive directors’ remuneration excluding 
    benefits-in-kind (Note 7)   427,500   334,333   427,500   334,333 
  Auditors’ remuneration: 
  -  statutory     50,000   45,000   50,000   45,000 
  -  other services   10,250   34,000   10,250   34,000 
  Depreciation of property, plant and 
   equipment (Note 11)   8,837,454   8,242,387   8,837,454   8,242,387 
  Amortisation of prepaid land lease payment (Note 12)  696,774   498,546   696,774   498,546 
  Provision for doubtful debts   34,239   130,646   34,239   130,646 
  Inventories written off   971,556   985,460   971,556   985,460 
  Impairment loss/(reversal) on other investments   224,686   (161,621)  224,686  (161,621)
  Impairment loss on club membership   -   44,000   -   44,000 
  Foreign exchange loss 
  -  realised     -   803,551   -   803,551 
  -  unrealised    -   33,950   -   33,950 
  Property, plant and equipment written off   68,761   308,751   68,761   308,751 
 

 
7. Directors’ remuneration 

     Economic Entity
     and Company 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Executive directors’ remuneration: 
   Fees        155,000   120,000 
   Other emoluments     2,379,329   2,417,030 
    Estimated money value of benefit-in-kind     258,576   318,600 
 

           2,792,905   2,855,630 
 

  Non-executive directors’ remuneration: 
   Fees        210,000   162,500 
   Other emoluments     217,500   171,833 
 

           427,500   334,333 
 

  Total directors’ remuneration including benefit-in-kind    3,220,405   3,189,963 
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7. Directors’ remuneration (Contd.) 

 The details of remuneration receivable by directors of the Company during the year are as follows:
 
     Economic Entity
     and Company 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Executive: 
  Salaries and other emolument     2,167,776   2,202,314 
  Fees         155,000   120,000 
  Bonus        74,241   110,700 
  Gratuity        62,000   48,000 
  Defined contribution plan     75,312   56,016 
  Estimated money value of benefit-in-kind     258,576   318,600 
 

           2,792,905   2,855,630 
 

  Non-Executive: 
  Fees         210,000   162,500 
  Gratuity        84,000   65,000 
  Other emolument     133,500   106,833 
 

           427,500   334,333 
 

           3,220,405   3,189,963 
 

 The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the year fell within the following bands is analysed 
below:

 
     Number of directors 
            2009   2008 

  Executive directors: 
  RM100,001 - RM150,000     -   1 
  RM150,001 - RM200,000     1   - 
  RM200,001 - RM250,000     -   1 
  RM250,001 - RM300,000     3   2 
  RM350,001 - RM400,000     -   1 
  RM450,001 - RM500,000     -   1 
  RM500,001 - RM550,000     -   1 
  RM550,001 - RM600,000     1   1 
  RM600,001 - RM650,000     2   - 
 
  Non-executive directors: 
  Below RM50,000     -   4 
  RM50,001 - RM100,000     5   1 
  RM100,001 - RM150,000     1   1 
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8. Income tax expense 
 
    Economic Entity   Company  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  Current income tax: 
   Malaysian income tax   5,957,000   6,244,279   5,957,000   8,308,000 
   Foreign withholding tax   34,419   27,620   34,419   27,620 
 

         5,991,419   6,271,899   5,991,419   8,335,620 
  Under/(over) provision in prior years 
   Malaysian income tax   215,600   (149,463)  215,600  (149,463)
 

          6,207,019   6,122,436   6,207,019   8,186,157 
 

  Deferred tax (Note 20): 
  Relating to origination and reversal to 
   temporary differences   554,290   461,935   554,290   461,935 
  Relating to changes in tax rates   (163,876)  (139,484)  (163,876) (139,484)
  Under/(over) provision in prior years   8,393   (112,101)  8,393  (112,101)
 

         398,807   210,350   398,807   210,350 
 

  Total income tax expense   6,605,826   6,332,786  6,605,826   8,396,507 
 

 Domestic current income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%) of the estimated assessable profit for the 
year. The domestic statutory tax rate has been reduced to 25% from the prior year’s rate of 26% with effect from the year of 
assessment 2009. The computation of deferred tax as at 31 March 2009 has reflected these changes.

 
 A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 

at the effective income tax rate of the Economic Entity and of the Company is as follows:
 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Economic Entity 
 
  Profit before taxation     25,570,191   27,272,831 
 

  Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25%  (2008: 26%)    6,392,548   7,090,936 
  Effect of changes in tax rates on opening balance of deferred tax    (163,876) (139,484)
  Income not subject to tax     -  (12,072)
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     579,763   489,175 
  Utilisation of current year’s reinvestment allowances    (489,061) (704,782)
  Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in prior years    8,393  (112,101)
  Under/(over) provision of income tax expense in  prior years    215,600  (149,463)
  Foreign withholding taxes     34,419   27,620 
  Net share of results of associates     28,040  (157,043)
 

  Income tax expense for the year     6,605,826   6,332,786 
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8. Income tax expense (Contd.)

            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Company 
 
  Profit before taxation     25,678,038   40,380,971 
 

  Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 25% (2008: 26%)     6,419,510   10,499,052 
  Effect of changes in tax rates on opening balance of deferred tax    (163,876) (139,484)
  Income not subject to tax     -  (1,513,510)
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes     580,841   489,175 
  Utilisation of current year’s reinvestment allowances    (489,061) (704,782)
  Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in prior years    8,393  (112,101)
  Under/(over) provision of income tax expense in  prior years    215,600  (149,463)
  Foreign withholding taxes     34,419   27,620 
 

  Income tax expense for the year     6,605,826   8,396,507 
 

9. Earnings per share 
 
 Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year held by the Company.
 
     Economic Entity
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of  the Company    18,964,365   20,940,045 
 

  Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue    60,798,534   60,798,534 
 

            2009   2008 
            sen   sen 
 
  Basic earnings per share     31.2  34.4 
 

 
10. Dividends 
 
     Net dividend 
    Amount  per share  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   Sen   Sen 
 
  Company 
 
  Recognised during the year: 
 
  First and final dividend of 4% less 26% taxation and 6% 
   tax exempt    -   5,423,231   -  8.92 
 

  First and final dividend of 8% less 26% taxation and 7% 
   tax exempt    7,855,171   -  12.92   - 
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10. Dividends (Contd.)

 At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, a first and final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008, of 8% 
less 25% taxation and 9% tax exempt on 60,798,534 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of RM9,119,780 (15 sen 
net per ordinary share) will be proposed for shareholders’ approval. The financial statements for the current financial year do not 
reflect this proposed dividend. Such dividend, if approved by the shareholders, will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation 
of retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 March 2010.

 

11. Property, plant and equipment 
 
      Plant,   Furniture,  
      machinery   fixtures   Capital  
   Land and   Motor   and   and   work-in-  
    buildings*   vehicles   equipment   fittings   progress   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
 Economic Entity 
 
 At 31 March 2009 
 
 Cost/valuation 
 
 At 1 April 2008  34,540,245   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   168,684,448 
 Additions  2,711,699   1,448,880   6,736,695   909,012   10,263,374   22,069,660 
 Disposals   -   (1,313,015)  -   -   -  (1,313,015)
 Written off  -   -   (7,662,496)  (341,913)  -  (8,004,409)
 

 At 31 March 2009  37,251,944   6,366,255   124,729,663   2,825,448   10,263,374   181,436,684 
 

 Representing: 
 
 At cost  29,588,908   6,366,255   124,729,663   2,825,448   10,263,374   173,773,648 
 At valuation  7,663,036   -   -   -   -   7,663,036 
 

   37,251,944   6,366,255   124,729,663   2,825,448   10,263,374   181,436,684 
 

 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment 
 
 At 1 April 2008 
 Accumulated 
  depreciation  23,447,670   3,726,560   92,806,948   1,667,003   -   121,648,181 
 Impairment losses  -   -   633,903   -   -   633,903 
 

   23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
 Depreciation charge for the 
  year (Note 6)  1,864,514   510,691   6,278,389   183,860   -   8,837,454 
 Disposals   -   (1,291,223)  -   -   -  (1,291,223)
 Written off  -   -   (7,625,039)  (310,609)  -  (7,935,648)
 

 At 31 March 2009  25,312,184   2,946,028   92,094,201   1,540,254   -   121,892,667 
 



AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD56

Notes to the Financial Statements 31 March 2009 (Contd.)

11. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 
 
      Plant,   Furniture,  
      machinery   fixtures   Capital  
   Land and   Motor   and   and   work-in-  
    buildings*   vehicles   equipment   fittings   progress   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
 Economic Entity (contd.) 

 Analysed as: 
 
 Accumulated depreciation  25,312,184   2,946,028   92,084,589   1,540,254   -   121,258,764 
 Impairment losses  -   -   9,612   -   -   633,903 
 

   25,312,184   2,946,028   92,094,201   1,540,254   -   121,892,667 
 

 Net carrying amount  11,939,760   3,420,227   32,635,462   1,285,194   10,263,374   59,544,017 
 

 At 31 March 2008 
 
 Cost/valuation 
 
 At 1 April 2007  32,835,111   7,092,061   128,092,128   2,102,617   -   170,121,917 
 Additions  1,737,494   517,440   6,075,547   298,270   -   8,628,751 
 Disposals   -   (1,379,111)  (4,209,101)  -   -  (5,588,212)
 Written off  (32,360)  -   (4,303,110)  (142,538)  -  (4,478,008)
 

 At 31 March 2008  34,540,245   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   168,684,448 
 

 Representing: 
 
 At cost  26,877,209   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   161,021,412 
 At valuation  7,663,036   -   -   -   -   7,663,036 
 

   34,540,245   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   168,684,448 
 

 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment 
 
 At 1 April 2007 
 Accumulated 
  depreciation  21,840,433   4,682,508   94,794,514   1,674,994   -   122,992,449 
 Impairment losses  -   -   804,717   -   -   804,717 
 

   21,840,433   4,682,508   95,599,231   1,674,994   -   123,797,166 
 Depreciation charge for the 
  year (Note 6)  1,618,024   423,163   6,081,242   119,958   -   8,242,387 
 Disposals   -   (1,379,111)  (4,209,101)  -   -  (5,588,212)
 Written off  (10,787)  -   (4,030,521)  (127,949)  -  (4,169,257)
 

 At 31 March 2008  23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 
 
      Plant,   Furniture,  
      machinery   fixtures   Capital  
   Land and   Motor   and   and   work-in-  
    buildings*   vehicles   equipment   fittings   progress   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 

 Economic Entity (contd.) 

 Analysed as: 
 
 Accumulated depreciation  23,447,670   3,726,560   92,806,948   1,667,003   -   121,648,181 
 Impairment losses  -   -   633,903   -   -   633,903 
 

   23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
 

 Net carrying amount  11,092,575   2,503,830   32,214,613   591,346   -   46,402,364 
 

 Company 
 
 At 31 March 2009 
 
 Cost/valuation 
 
 At 1 April 2008  35,795,141   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   169,939,344 
 Additions  2,711,699   1,448,880   6,736,695   909,012   10,263,374   22,069,660 
 Disposals   -   (1,313,015)  -   -   -  (1,313,015)
 Written off  -   -   (7,662,496)  (341,913)  -  (8,004,409)
 

 At 31 March 2009  38,506,840   6,366,255   124,729,663   2,825,448   10,263,374   182,691,580 
 

 Representing: 
 
 At cost  30,843,804   6,366,255   124,729,663   2,825,448   10,263,374   175,028,544 
 At valuation  7,663,036   -   -   -   -   7,663,036 
 

   38,506,840  6,366,255  124,729,663  2,825,448  10,263,374  182,691,580 
 

 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment 
 
 At 1 April 2008 
 Accumulated depreciation  23,447,670   3,726,560   92,806,948   1,667,003   -   121,648,181 
 Impairment losses  -   -   633,903   -   -   633,903 
 

   23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
 Depreciation charge for the 
  year (Note 6)  1,864,514   510,691   6,278,389   183,860   -   8,837,454 
 Disposals   -   (1,291,223)  -   -   -  (1,291,223)
 Written off  -   -   (7,625,039)  (310,609)  -  (7,935,648)
 

 At 31 March 2009 25,312,184  2,946,028  92,094,201  1,540,254   -  121,892,667 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 
 
      Plant,   Furniture,  
      machinery   fixtures   Capital  
   Land and   Motor   and   and   work-in-  
    buildings*   vehicles   equipment   fittings   progress   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 

 Company (contd.) 

 Analysed as: 
 
 Accumulated 
  depreciation 25,312,184  2,946,028  92,084,589  1,540,254   -  121,883,055 
 Impairment losses  -   -  9,612   -   -  9,612 
 

   25,312,184  2,946,028  92,094,201  1,540,254   -  121,892,667 
 

 Net carrying amount 13,194,656  3,420,227  32,635,462  1,285,194  10,263,374  60,798,913 
 

 At 31 March 2008 
 
 Cost/valuation 
 
 At 1 April 2007  32,835,111   7,092,061   128,092,128   2,102,617   -   170,121,917 
 Additions  2,992,390   517,440   6,075,547   298,270   -   9,883,647 
 Disposals   -   (1,379,111)  (4,209,101)  -   -  (5,588,212)
 Written off  (32,360)  -   (4,303,110)  (142,538)  -  (4,478,008)
 

 At 31 March 2008  35,795,141   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   169,939,344 
 

 Representing: 
 
 At cost  28,132,105   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   162,276,308 
 At valuation  7,663,036   -   -   -   -   7,663,036 
 

   35,795,141   6,230,390   125,655,464   2,258,349   -   169,939,344 
 

 Accumulated depreciation 
  and impairment 
 
 At 1 April 2007 
 Accumulated depreciation  21,840,433   4,682,508   94,794,514   1,674,994   -   122,992,449 
 Impairment losses  -   -   804,717   -   -   804,717 
 

   21,840,433   4,682,508  95,599,231  1,674,994   -   123,797,166 
 Depreciation charge for the 
  year (Note 6)  1,618,024   423,163   6,081,242   119,958   -   8,242,387 
 Disposals   -   (1,379,111)  (4,209,101)  -   -  (5,588,212)
 Written off  (10,787)  -   (4,030,521)  (127,949)  -  (4,169,257)
 

 At 31 March 2008  23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 
 
      Plant,   Furniture,  
      machinery   fixtures   Capital  
   Land and   Motor   and   and   work-in-  
    buildings*   vehicles   equipment   fittings   progress   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 

 Company (contd.) 

 Analysed as: 
 
 Accumulated depreciation  23,447,670   3,726,560   92,806,948   1,667,003   -   121,648,181 
 Impairment losses  -   -   633,903   -   -   633,903 
 

   23,447,670   3,726,560   93,440,851   1,667,003   -   122,282,084 
 

 Net carrying amount  12,347,471   2,503,830   32,214,613   591,346   -   47,657,260 
 

 Except for freehold land and buildings which are stated at valuations all other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Analysis of assets held at valuation are as follows:

 * Land and buildings 
 
        Freehold  
        land   Buildings   Total 
        RM   RM   RM 

 Economic Entity 
 
 Cost/valuation 
 
 At 1 April 2007    71,525   32,763,586   32,835,111 
 Additions     -   1,737,494   1,737,494 
 Written off     -   (32,360) (32,360)
 

 At 31 March 2008     71,525   34,468,720   34,540,245 
 

 At 1 April 2008     71,525   34,468,720   34,540,245 
 Additions     -   2,711,699   2,711,699 
 

 At 31 March 2009     71,525   37,180,419   37,251,944 
 

 Representing: 
 
 At cost     -   29,588,908   29,588,908 
 At valuation     71,525   7,591,511   7,663,036 
 

        71,525   37,180,419   37,251,944 
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11. Property, plant and equipment (Contd.) 

 * Land and buildings (contd.)

           Freehold  
           land   Buildings   Total 
           RM   RM   RM 

 Economic Entity (contd.) 

 Accumulated depreciation 
 
  At 1 April 2007     -   21,840,433   21,840,433 
  Charge for the year    -   1,618,024   1,618,024 
  Written off      -   (10,787) (10,787)
 

  At 31 March 2008     -   23,447,670   23,447,670 
 

  At 1 April 2008     -   23,447,670   23,447,670 
  Charge for the year    -   1,864,514   1,864,514 
 

  At 31 March 2009    -   25,312,184   25,312,184 
 

  Net book value
 
  At 31 March 2008 
  At cost       -   11,021,050   11,021,050 
  At valuation      71,525   -   71,525 
 

          71,525   11,021,050   11,092,575 
 

  At 31 March 2009 
  At cost       -   11,868,235   11,868,235 
  At valuation      71,525   -   71,525 
 

          71,525   11,868,235   11,939,760 
 

  Company 
 
  Cost/valuation 
 
  At 1 April 2007    71,525   32,763,586   32,835,111 
  Additions      -   2,992,390   2,992,390 
  Written off      -   (32,360) (32,360)
 

  At 31 March 2008    71,525   35,723,616   35,795,141 
 

  At 1 April 2008     71,525   35,723,616   35,795,141 
  Additions      -   2,711,699   2,711,699 
 

  At 31 March 2009    71,525   38,435,315   38,506,840 
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 * Land and buildings (contd.)

           Freehold  
           land   Buildings   Total 
           RM   RM   RM 

 Company (contd.)

  Representing: 
 
  At cost       -   30,843,804   30,843,804 
  At valuation      71,525   7,591,511   7,663,036 
 

          71,525   38,435,315   38,506,840 
 

  Accumulated depreciation 
 
  At 1 April 2007     -   21,840,433   21,840,433 
  Charge for the year    -   1,618,024   1,618,024 
  Written off      -   (10,787) (10,787)
 

  At 31 March 2008     -   23,447,670   23,447,670 
 

  At 1 April 2008     -   23,447,670   23,447,670 
  Charge for the year    -   1,864,514   1,864,514 
 

  At 31 March 2009    -   25,312,184   25,312,184 
 

  Net book value 
 
  At 31 March 2008 
  At cost       -   12,275,946   12,275,946 
  At valuation      71,525   -   71,525 
 

          71,525   12,275,946   12,347,471 
 

  At 31 March 2009 
  At cost       -   13,123,131   13,123,131 
  At valuation      71,525   -   71,525 
 

           71,525   13,123,131   13,194,656 
 

(a) Included in the above are the following property, plant and equipment which have been fully depreciated but are still in 
use:

 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

    At cost: 
    Buildings      17,477,207   17,477,207 
    Motor vehicles     637,273   1,887,119 
    Plant, machinery and equipment     66,568,037   67,929,822 
    Furniture, fixtures and fittings     1,005,175   1,155,494 
 

           85,687,692   88,449,642 
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 * Land and buildings (contd.)

(b) The freehold and leasehold land and buildings were last revalued in 1984 by an independent professional valuer, as approved 
by the relevant authorities and based on open market value on the existing use basis. The surplus arising from the revaluation 
has been transferred to the capital reserves account in 1985.

 These land and buildings have continued to be stated on the basis of their 1984 valuation as allowed by the transitional 
provisions issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board upon adoption of International Accounting Standard 
16(Revised), Property, Plant and Equipment.

 The directors were unable to disclose the net book value of the revalued land and buildings had it been carried at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation due to lack of historical records.

 
 
12. Prepaid land lease payments 
 
 The prepaid land lease is amortised over the period of the respective leases which range from 58 years to 83 years.
 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Economic Entity  
 
  At 1 April       35,866,381  23,081,794 
  Additions       -  13,283,133 
  Amortisation for the year (Note 6)    (696,774) (498,546)
 

  At 31 March      35,169,607  35,866,381 
 

  Analysed as: 
 
  Long term leasehold land    34,472,833  35,169,607 
  Short term leasehold land    696,774  696,774 
 

           35,169,607  35,866,381 
 

  Company 
 
  At 1 April       40,207,748   23,081,794 
  Additions       -   17,624,500 
  Amortisation for the year (Note 6)     (696,774) (498,546)
 

  At 31 March      39,510,974   40,207,748 
 

  Analysed as: 
 
  Long term leasehold land    38,814,200   39,510,974 
  Short term leasehold land    696,774   696,774 
 

           39,510,974   40,207,748 
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13. Investment in associate 
 
    Economic Entity   Company  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  Unquoted shares at cost   1,348,751  1,348,751   1,348,751  1,348,751 
  Share of post-acquisition reserves   1,763,850  1,871,697   -   - 
 

          3,112,601   3,220,448   1,348,751   1,348,751 
 

 The financial year end of 31 December of associate is not co-terminous with those of the Company. For the purpose of applying the 
equity method of accounting, the management accounts of the associate for the period ended 31 March 2009 have been used.

 The associate company has been placed under member’s voluntary winding up on 1 July 2008.
 
 The summarised financial statements of the associate which is based on the accounts as at 31 March 2009 are as follows:
 
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Assets and liabilities 
 
  Current assets      7,994,062   9,365,897 
  Non-current assets     -   25,000 
 

  Total assets       7,994,062   9,390,897 
 

  Current liabilities     1,641,816   2,818,555 
 

  Results 
 
  Revenue        -   746,911 
  (Loss)/Profit for the year     (220,093)  12,653,612 
 

 Details of the associated company are as follows: 
 
 
   Country of  Effective interests (%)
 Name of Company incorporation Principal activities  2009   2008 
 
 Malaysia Ve-Tsin Malaysia Under member’s 49   49
  Manufacturing Co. Bhd.  voluntary winding up  
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14. Other investments 
 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Quoted shares in a Malaysian corporation, at cost    1,086,563   1,086,563 
  Less: Impairment loss      (224,686)  - 
 

           861,877   1,086,563 
 

  Transferable club memberships     364,000   268,000 
  Less: Impairment loss      (102,500) (102,500)
 

           261,500   165,500 
 

            1,123,377   1,252,063 
 

  Market value of quoted shares in Malaysia     861,877   1,219,241 
 

 
15. Inventories 
 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM  

  Cost 
  Raw materials     19,672,415   16,157,202 
  Consumables     3,242,972   2,004,205 
  Work-in-progress    1,185,927   3,750,852 
  Finished goods     22,255,239   9,301,147 
 

           46,356,553   31,213,406 
  Net realisable value 
  Finished goods      -   1,169,849 
 

           46,356,553   32,383,255 
 

 The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the financial year amounted to RM153,936,987 (2008: RM119,548,285).
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16. Trade and other receivables 
 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Current 
 
  Trade receivables 
  Third parties      19,366,153   19,516,550 
  Fellow subsidiaries      7,821,673   5,232,900 
  Affiliated company     5,060   - 
  Associates       -   41,937 
 

            27,192,886  24,791,387 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts - Third parties     (252,058) (241,705)
 

  Trade receivables, net     26,940,828   24,549,682 
 

  Other receivables 
  Deposits        280,895   286,507 
  Prepayments      873,643   1,131,443 
  Other receivables     2,074,485   1,966,397 
 

           3,229,023   3,384,347 
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts     (70,349) (70,349)
 

  Other receivables, net       3,158,674   3,313,998 
 

  Total         30,099,502   27,863,680 
 

 The Company’s normal trade credit term ranges from 14 days to 90 days (2008: 14 days to 90 days). Other credit terms are assessed 
and approved on a case-by-case basis.

 As at the balance sheet date, the Company has a significant concentration of credit risks in the form of outstanding balances due 
from 1 (2008: 2) customers representing approximately 18% (2008: 25%) of the total trade receivables. The balances due from 
fellow subsidiaries forms significant concentration of credit risk to the Company as well.

 The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and associates are unsecured, interest free and credit terms ranges from 30 days to 90 
days (2008: 30 days to 90 days).

 
 
17. Cash and cash equivalents 

     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  Cash on hand and at banks     4,490,491   5,919,907 
  Deposits with licensed banks     38,731,499   60,273,740 
 

  Cash and bank balances    43,221,990   66,193,647 
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17. Cash and cash equivalents (Contd.) 
 
 The interest rates relating to deposits with licensed banks at the balance sheet date vary from 1.50% to 3.00% (2008: 2.60% to 

4.85%) per annum.

 The maturities of the deposits with licensed banks as at the the balance sheet date vary from 2 days to 87 days (2008: 7 days to 87 
days).

 
 
18. Employee benefits 
 
 Retirement benefit obligations 
 
 The Company operates a partly funded, Post-Employment Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”) for its eligible employees. Under the 

Scheme, eligible employees are entitled to post-employment benefits varying at 6% and 10% on aggregate basic salaries of eligible 
staff and the number of completed years of service. Interest is accrued at 6% per annum on these benefits. 

 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  At 1 April        4,758,600   4,534,179 
  Amount recognised in the income statement (Note 5)    1,486,408   907,398 
  Less: Contributions paid     (872,179) (682,977)
 

  At 31 March       5,372,829   4,758,600 
 

  The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are  determined as follows: 
 
  Present value of defined contribution obligation recognised  as liabilities in the balance sheet  5,372,829   4,758,600 
 

  Analysed as: 
  Current       320,578   296,972 
  Non-current       5,052,251   4,461,628 
 

           5,372,829   4,758,600 
 

  The amounts recognised in the income statements are as follows: 
 
  Current service cost     1,114,563   628,615 
  Interest cost      371,845   278,783 
 

           1,486,408   907,398 
 

 The above amounts charged to the income statements have been included in staff costs, as disclosed in Note 5.
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19. Trade and other payables 
 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 

  Trade payables
  Third parties      5,502,422   9,952,346 
  Holding company     55,116   135,457 
  Fellow subsidiaries     3,078,448   7,409,417 
  Affiliated companies     252,673   205,305 
 

             8,888,659   17,702,525 
 

  Other payables 
  Holding company     1,453,001   1,292,505 
  Accruals        4,303,310   3,789,052 
  Other payables      8,212,269   5,446,727 
 

           13,968,580   10,528,284 
 

            22,857,239   28,230,809 
 

 The normal trade credit terms granted to the Economic Entity and the Company ranges from 30 to 60 days (2008: 30 to 60 days).

 The amounts due to related and holding companies are unsecured, interest free and have credit terms of 30 days (2008: 30 
days).

 
 
20. Deferred taxation 
 
     Economic Entity 
     and Company
            2009   2008 
            RM   RM 
 
  At 1 April        4,088,518   3,878,168 
  Recognised in income statement (Note 8)     398,807   210,350 
 

  At 31 March       4,487,325   4,088,518 
 

  Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: 
  Deferred tax assets     (1,474,055) (1,657,401)
  Deferred tax liabilities     5,961,380   5,745,919 
 

            4,487,325   4,088,518 
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20. Deferred taxation (Contd.) 
 
 Deferred tax assets of the Economic Entity and the Company: 
 
          Post-
         employment   Provision   Provision  
          benefit   for   for doubtful  
          obligations   liabilities   debts   Total 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  At 1 April 2008    1,237,236  360,313  59,852   1,657,401 
  Recognised in the income statement   103,853   (290,702)  3,503  (183,346)
 

  At 31 March 2009   1,341,089   69,611   63,355   1,474,055 
 

  At 1 April 2007    1,224,228   319,530   32,179   1,575,937 
  Recognised in the income statement   13,008   40,783   27,673   81,464 
 

  At 31 March 2008   1,237,236   360,313   59,852   1,657,401 
 

 Deferred tax liabilities of the Economic Entity and the Company: 
 
            Accelerated  
           Revaluation   capital  
           reserves   allowances   Total 
           RM   RM   RM 
 
  At 1 April 2008    2,468,141  3,277,778  5,745,919 
  Recognised in the income statement   (137,245) 352,706  215,461 
 

  At 31 March 2009   2,330,896  3,630,484  5,961,380 
 

  At 1 April 2007    2,608,771  2,845,334  5,454,105 
  Recognised in the income statement   (140,630) 432,444  291,814 
 

  At 31 March 2008   2,468,141  3,277,778  5,745,919 
 

 
21. Share capital and share premium 
 
    Number of ordinary  
    shares of RM1 each   Amount 
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  Authorised: 
  At 1 April / 31 March   80,000,000   80,000,000   80,000,000   80,000,000 
 

  Issued and fully paid: 
  At 1 April / 31 March   60,798,534   60,798,534   60,798,534   60,798,534 
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21. Share capital and share premium (Contd.) 

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

 The share premium account is not available for distribution but may be applied for bonus issue of shares.
 
 
22. Reserves 
 
    Economic Entity   Company  
          2009   2008   2009   2008 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  Non-distributable: 
  Revaluation reserves  6,776,877  6,898,748  6,776,877  6,898,748 
 
  Distributable: 
  Retained earnings   113,585,473  102,354,408   117,417,886  106,078,974 
 

         120,362,350   109,253,156   124,194,763   112,977,722 
 

(a) Revaluation reserves 
 
 The revaluation reserves is used to record increases in the fair value of the leasehold land and building; and decreases to the 

extent that such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in equity.
 
(b) Retained earnings 

 In the past, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation system. In accordance with the Finance Act 2007 which was 
gazetted on 28 December 2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on dividend paid, credited or distributed to its 
shareholders, and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of the shareholders (“single tier system”). However, 
there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31 December 2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends to 
their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also have an irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance and 
opt to pay dividends under the single tier system. The change in the tax legislation also provides for the 108 balance to be 
locked-in as at 31 December 2007 in accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007.

 The Company did not elect for the irrevocable option to disregard the 108 balance. Accordingly, during the transitional 
period, the Company may utilise the credit in the 108 balance as at 31 March 2009 to distribute cash dividend payments to 
ordinary shareholdings as defined under the Finance Act 2007. 

 
 As at 31 March 2009, the Company has tax exempt profits available for distribution of approximately RM73,470,000 (2008: 

RM71,514,000), subject to the agreement of the Inland Revenue Board.

 The Company has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and the balance in the tax exempt 
income account to frank the payment of dividends out of its entire retained profits as at 31 March 2009.

(c) Other reserves 
 
 Other reserves represents the Company’s share of associate’s revaluation reserve.
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23. Capital commitments 
 
              2009   2008 
             RM   RM 
 
  Capital expenditure 
   Approved but not contracted for: 
    Property, plant and equipment     19,112,200   21,420,800 
 
 
24. Related party disclosures 
 

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Economic Entity and the Company had the 
following transactions with related parties during the financial year:

 
              2009   2008 
             RM   RM 

    Economic Entity 
 
    (i)   Transactions with associated companies: 
 
      Purchases from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing  Co. Bhd.    -   454,363 
      Management fees received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin  Manufacturing Co. Bhd.   -   27,000 
      Rental received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.  -   5,412 
       Rental paid to Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.    -   474,452 
 

    (ii)  Transactions with holding company and its subsidiaries: 
 
      Commission income     729,819   611,732 
      Royalties payable     (5,628,759) (5,011,553)
      Sales     38,983,458   18,339,279 
      Purchases     (95,092,371) (66,597,110)
      Purchases of assets     (2,514,636) (137,281)
      Promotional expenses     (351,545) (261,432)
      Other expenses     (129,296) (387,602)
 

    Company 
 
    (i)   Transactions with associated companies: 
 
      Purchases from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.    -   454,363 
      Management fees received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin  Manufacturing Co. Bhd.   -   27,000 
      Dividend from Malaysia Ve-Tsin  Manufacturing Co. Bhd.    -   13,712,147 
      Purchases of assets from Malaysia Ve-Tsin  Manufacturing Co. Bhd.   14,400   19,350,000 
      Rental received from Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.  -   5,412 
       Rental paid to Malaysia Ve-Tsin Manufacturing Co. Bhd.   -   474,452 
 

    (ii)  Transactions with holding company and its subsidiaries: 
 
      Commission income     729,819   611,732 
      Royalties payable     (5,628,759) (5,011,553)
      Sales     38,983,458   18,339,279 
      Purchases     (95,092,371) (66,597,110)
      Purchases of assets     (2,514,636) (137,281)
      Promotional expenses     (351,545) (261,432)
      Other expenses     (129,296) (387,602)
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24. Related party disclosures (Contd.) 
 

(a) The directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of business 
and have been established on negotiated terms and conditions that are not materially different from those obtainable in 
transactions with unrelated parties.

 
(b) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
 The directors of the Company are the key management personnel during the year whose remuneration is disclosed in 

Note 7.
 
 
25. Financial instruments 
 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 

 The Economic Entity’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available for 
the development of the Economic Entity’s businesses whilst managing its interest rate risks (both fair value and cash flow), 
foreign currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks 
and they are summarised below. It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Economic Entity’s policy that no 
trading in derivative financial instruments shall be undertaken.

 
(b) Interest rate risk 

 
 Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. As the Economic Entity has no significant interest-bearing financial assets, the Economic 
Entity’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Economic 
Entity’s interest-bearing financial assets are mainly short term in nature and have been mostly placed in fixed deposits.

 
(c) Foreign currency risk 

 
 The Economic Entity is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated 

in a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this 
risk are primarily United States Dollar (USD), Singapore Dollar (SGD) and Japanese Yen (Yen). Foreign exchange exposures 
in transactional currencies other than functional currencies of the operating entities are kept to an acceptable level. 
Approximately 30% of the Company’s sales are denominated in currencies other than the unit’s functional currency of the 
operating unit making the sale, whilst almost 70% of costs are denominated in the unit’s functional currency. 

 
 The net unhedged financial assets and financial liabilities of the Economic Entity and of the Company that are not denominated 

in their functional currencies are as follows:
 
   Net financial assets/(liabilities) held in non-functional currency 
   United  
    States   Brunei   Singapore   Japanese  
 Functional  Dollar   Dollar   Dollar   Yen   Euro   Total 
 currency of  RM   RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 
 Economic Entity 
 
 At 31 March 2009 
 Ringgit Malaysia  10,352,813   368,041   785,591   (526,117)  (21,987)  10,958,341 
 

    At 31 March 2008 
 Ringgit Malaysia  2,539,094   630,030   1,161,121   (238,713)  -   4,091,532 
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25. Financial instruments (Contd.)

(c) Foreign currency risk (contd.) 

 As at balance sheet date, there were no forward foreign exchange contracts undertaken by the Economic Entity to hedge its 
exposure to currency fluctuations affecting certain foreign currency denominated payables.

 All gains or losses on foreign exchange transactions are recognised as income or expenses upon settlement.
 
(d) Liquidity risk 

 The Economic Entity manages its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure 
that refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity management, the Economic Entity 
maintains sufficient levels of cash or cash convertible investments to meet its working capital requirements. In addition, the 
Economic Entity strives to maintain available banking facilities at a reasonable level to its overall cash flow position.

 
(e) Credit risk 

 The Economic Entity’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Economic Entity trades only with 
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Economic Entity’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and 
the Economic Entity’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. Since the Economic Entity trades only with recognised and 
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

 
 The credit risk of the Economic Entity’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, marketable 

securities and non-current investments, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of these financial assets.

 
 The Economic Entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty nor does it have any 

major concentration of credit risk related to any financial assets other than as disclosed in Note 16.

(f) Fair values 
 
 The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Economic Entity and of the Company at the balance sheet date 

approximated their fair values except for the following:
 
    Economic Entity  Company 
          Carrying   Fair   Carrying   Fair 
          amount   value   amount   value 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
  At 31 March 2009

    Financial assets 
    Non-current unquoted shares in associate   3,112,601   *   1,348,751   * 
    Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries   4,743,225   #   4,743,225   # 
 

    Financial liabilities 
    Amounts due to  
    -  holding company   1,508,117   #   1,508,117   # 
    -  affiliated companies   247,613   #   247,613   # 
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25. Financial instruments (Contd.)

(f) Fair values (contd.)

    Economic Entity  Company 
          Carrying   Fair   Carrying   Fair 
          amount   value   amount   value 
          RM   RM   RM   RM 
 
    At 31 March 2008 
 
    Financial assets 
    Non-current unquoted shares in associate   3,220,448   *   1,348,751   * 
    Amounts due from associates   41,937   #   41,937   # 
 

    Financial liabilities 
    Amounts due to 
    -  holding company   1,427,962   #   1,427,962   # 
    -  fellow subsidiaries   2,176,517   #   2,176,517   # 
    -  affiliated companies   205,305   #   205,305   # 
 

* It is not practical to estimate the fair value of the Company’s non-current unquoted shares because of the lack of 
quoted market prices and the inability to estimate fair value without incurring excessive costs.

# It is also not practical to estimate the fair values of amounts due to related corporations due principally to a lack of 
fixed repayment terms entered by the parties involved and without incurring excessive costs.

 
 
26. Segmental information 
 

(a) Business segment: 
 
 Segmental reporting by business activities has not been prepared as the Economic Entity is principally engaged only in the 

manufacturing and selling of monosodium glutamate and other related products.
 
(b) Geographical segment: 
 
 Segmental reporting by geographical regions has only been prepared for revenue as the Economic Entity’s assets are located 

in Malaysia. Sales to external customers disclosed in geographical segments are based on the geographical location of its 
customers.

 
      Other  
     Middle   Asian  
    Malaysia   East   Countries   Others   Total 
    RM   RM   RM   RM   RM 

 Revenue 
 
 2009  166,009,055   19,126,409   56,511,225   2,192,110   243,838,799 
 

 2008  147,660,907   17,936,438   43,784,720   6,080,394   215,462,459 
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27. Comparatives 
 
 The following comparative amounts as at 31 March 2008 have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation:
 
           As previously    At 
           stated   Adjustments   restated 
           RM   RM   RM 
 
  Staff costs      27,344,651   (227,500)  27,117,151 
  Other operating expenses    36,817,675   227,500   37,045,175 
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 Existing Use/
 Description   Date of  Net Book
 of Building/ Land  Acquisition/ Age of Value
Properties Land Area Tenure Revaluation Building RM
 
Land and building  1 unit double 1,680 Freehold 1984 33 years 71,525
8 & 8A, Lorong 1,  storey sq. ft.  (Revaluation)
Jalan Shahbandar,  shophouse
Bandar Penggaram, 
Batu Pahat  
 
Land and buildings  Office, 536,376 Leasehold 1984 44 years 13,393,481
Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  warehouse sq. ft. expiring on (Revaluation)
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur and factory  2.4.2062
 complex 
  
Land and buildings  Office, 174,240 Leasehold 1984 39years 4,268,458
Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  warehouse sq. ft. expiring on (Revaluation)
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur and factory  5.7.2067
 complex 
 
Land and buildings  Mining pool 304,920 Leasehold 1984 44 years 1,986,012
Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,   sq. ft. expiring on (Revaluation)
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur   2062
  
Land and buildings  Factory 85,568 Leasehold 1992 17 years 10,337,978
Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  complex sq. ft. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur   15.3.2073 
 
Land and buildings  Office, 36,329 Leasehold 1992 17 years 168,409
Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  warehouse sq. ft. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur and factory  6.3.2064
 complex 
  
Land and buildings Industrial 5,904 Leasehold 2003  4 years  3,118,703
Lot 47088, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  land and sq. mtr. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur store  20.1.2074

Land and buildings Office, 10,512 Leasehold 2008  24-42 years  4,512,043
Lot 14300, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  warehouse sq. mtr. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur  and factory   5.5.2067
 complex 
 
Land Fencing 1,426 Leasehold 2008  -  621,669
Lot 23631, Jalan Kuchai Lama,   sq. mtr. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur    14.6.2071
  
 
Land and buildings Office, 27,791 Leasehold 2008 27 years 14,227,352
Lot 23630, Jalan Kuchai Lama,  warehouse sq. mtr. expiring on
Petaling, Kuala Lumpur and factory  31.7.2066
 complex

List of Properties As At 31 March 2009
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1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2009 together with the 
Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon. 

2. To declare a first and final dividend of 8 sen per share less 25% income tax and 9 sen tax exempt per share for 
the financial year ended 31 March 2009.  

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.  

4. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring in accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

 (a) Mr. Gew Ah Lek
 (b) Dato’ Professor (Dr.) Teo Chiang Liang 
 (c) Mr. Makoto Tatsumi 

5. To re-elect Mr. Hiroshi Amano who is retiring in accordance with Article 122 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

6. To pass the following resolutions pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 :-

(a) “That General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali (Rtd) who is retiring pursuant 
to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company 
and to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.”

(b) “That Dr. Goh Chin Siew who is retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, be and 
is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting.”

(c)  “That Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron who is retiring pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 
1965, be and is hereby re-appointed as Director of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting.”

7. To re-appoint Messrs. Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad as Auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 

 As Special Business

 To consider and if thought fit, with or without any modification, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions : -

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NO. 1
 - AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 132D OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965 

 “That subject to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and approvals of the relevant governmental/
regulatory authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue and allot shares in the Company, 
at any time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, 
in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued does not 
exceed ten per centum (10%) of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being and the 
Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional 
shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad; AND THAT such authority shall commence immediately 
upon the passing of this Resolution and continue to be in force until conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.” 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Bukit Jalil Golf Resort & Country 
Resort, Jalan 3/155B,Bukit Jalil,57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 17 August 2009 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes :-

AGENDA

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)
(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)

(Resolution 9)

(Resolution 10)

(Resolution 11)

(Resolution 12)

Notice Of Annual General Meeting
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(Resolution 13)

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NO. 2
 - PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE AND PROPOSED SHAREHOLDERS’ NEW MANDATE 

FOR RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE 

 “That subject to the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, approval be and is hereby given 
for :-

a) Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for the Company to enter into and to give effect to the 
category of the recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature from time to time with the Related 
Party as specified in Section 2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 July 2009; and

b) Proposed Shareholders’ New Mandate for the Company to enter into additional recurrent related party 
transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the Related Party as specified in Section 2.3 of the 
Circular to Shareholders dated 24 July 2009,

 provided that such transactions are :-

(i) recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature;
(ii) necessary for the Company’s day-to-day operations;
(iii) carried out in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms which are not more favourable 

to the Related Parties than those generally available to the public; and
(iv) not to the detriment of minority shareholders

 (the “Mandate”);

 That such authority shall commence upon the passing of this resolution and shall continue to be in force 
until:-

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company following the Annual General 
Meeting at which the Mandate was passed, at which time it will lapse, unless the authority is renewed by 
a resolution passed at the meeting;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting is required to be held pursuant 
to Section 143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 but shall not extend to such extension as may be allowed 
pursuant to Section 143(2) of the Companies Act, 1965; or

(iii)  revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders in a general meeting; whichever is the 
earlier;

 And further that the Directors of the Company be authorised to complete and do all such acts and things 
(including executing all such documents as may be required), as they may consider expedient or necessary to 
give effect to the Mandate.”

10. To transact any other ordinary business of which due notice shall have been given. 

NOTICE OF BOOK CLOSURE

NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that a first and final dividend of 8 sen per share less 25% income tax and 9 sen tax 
exempt per share for the financial year ended 31 March 2009 will be payable on 16 September 2009 to depositors 
whose names appear in the Record of Depositors at the close of business on 28 August 2009 if approved by the 
members at the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting.

Notice Of Annual General Meeting (Contd.)
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A Depositor shall qualify for entitlement only in respect of:-

(a) Shares transferred to the Depositor’s Securities Account before 4.00 p.m. on 28 August, 2009 in respect of ordinary transfers; 
and

(b) Shares bought on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on a cum entitlement basis according to the Rules of the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

By Order of the Board

CHUA SIEW CHUAN (MAICSA 0777689)
Company Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
Dated : 24 July 2009

Explanatory Notes To Special Business: -

1. Authority Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965

 The proposed adoption of the Ordinary Resolution No. 1 is primarily to give flexibility to the Board of Directors to issue and allot 
shares at any time to such persons in their absolute discretion without convening a general meeting. This authority unless revoked 
or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

2. Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate and Proposed Shareholders’ New Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 
of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

 
 The Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate and Proposed Shareholders’ New Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 

Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature will enable the Company and its affiliated companies to enter into any of the recurrent 
related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature which are necessary for the Company’s day-to-day operations, subject 
to the transactions being in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms which are not more favourable to 
the related parties than those generally available to the public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the 
Company. Please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 24 July 2009 for more information.

Notes :-

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 10 August 2009 (“General 
Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting. 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy may but 
need not be a member of the Company and a member may appoint any person to be his proxy and the provisions of Section 149(1)
(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company.

3. A holder may appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend the same meeting. Where a holder appoints two or more proxies, he 
shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy. Only one (1) of the proxies is entitled to vote on 
a show of hands.

4. The instrument appointing proxy, shall be in print or writing under the hand of the appointer or his duly constituted attorney, or if 
such appointer is a corporation, under its common seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, 
Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting or at 
any adjournment thereof.

Notice Of Annual General Meeting (Contd.)
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING THE NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PURSUANT TO PARAGRAPH 8.28 OF BURSA MALAYSIA 
SECURITIES BERHAD LISTING REQUIREMENTS

Directors standing for re-election/re-appointment

1. Directors who are standing for re-election/re-appointment at the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held 
at Bukit Jalil Golf Resort & Country Resort, Jalan 3/155B,Bukit Jalil,57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 17 August 2009 at 11:00 a.m. 
are as follows:-

 (a) Mr. Gew Ah Lek
 (b) Dato’ Professor (Dr.) Teo Chiang Liang
 (c) Mr. Makoto Tatsumi
 (d) Mr. Hiroshi Amano
 (e) General Tan Sri (Dr.) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali (Rtd)
 (f) Dr. Goh Chin Siew
 (g) Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron
  
2.  The details of the above Directors who are standing for re-election/re-appointment at the Forty-Eighth Annual General Meeting 

and the family relationship with any director and/or substantial shareholder of the Company are in the section of “Directors’ 
Profile” and their shareholdings information are listed in the section of “Analysis of Shareholdings”of the Annual Report.

Statement Accompanying Notice Of Annual General Meeting
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HEALTHY living through the enjoyment of
DELICIOUS FOOD
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Corporate Responsibility

Vision of the Ajinomoto Group’s Corporate Responsibility

Employee

Customer

Environment
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With Our Employees

e  uman Resour e R  ana ement ystem for E e u ve

upa onal afety  ealth

Training and Development
A range 

 re en e ra n ng r gra  n e a ng an  a ng r e ee  n e r  n e ge an  n ren  n r a n 
are arrange  r g  e ear  a n an   e e en  ra n ng  a e a  een arrange   rea e a e r ng 
a ere an  er g  a er an re r e

 e a  a ran aren   a r rgan a n  a e r a e  a r r a e 
e e en   e a na  an an  a ar n  r ng a ere  r 

e ee   are e a r a e er   r an  
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With Our Employees

Training and Development (cont’d)

Recrea onal Ac vi es
e a e are  e e ee  re rea n  a ng e er  e r   e a  a ea re  en a e an  ar n  en r n en   

 r e ene   re re ng r e ee  n  an   a er a ar  a  a  r
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With Our Customers

Quality Management 
e n r e  e e er e r a   r ng a e an  g a  r  an  er e  r 
era n  an  anage en    e n erna na  a  a ran e an ar    

an  A  an  ee  e re re en   e n r   ea   a a a

Rela onship ith Customers  
e a ra e  e er   rea e r  an  er e  a  ee  e r nee  e er  e  n a e  re e  an  a  

n e e  e er   earn e r  an  a r nage r  e

 a n a n an  n n  r e r a  anage en  e  
n a e  re e  an  a  n e e  e er  ee  r r  

re   rea  e g e  e e   e ne  an  r e a r nage a ng  
e er
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With Our Customers

Rela onship ith Customers (cont’d)
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With Our Customers
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With Our Customers

Rela onship ith Customers (cont’d)
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For The Global Environment

e regar  e en r n en a  a er  a  ne  r r r  e   
e  n r e ng an  r ng e en r n en  n a  area   r 

era n  e re er ng an  en an ng e a   e r e ee  
er  an  n ne g r

Educa on  Training
e are r ng ar   en an e r e ee  a arene  n en r n en a  e  an  n a e  e  regar ng 

en r n en a  a na  r g  r a e e a n an  ra n ng
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For The Global Environment

Environmental mpacts Reduc on
e a are an  en e r a e re en e en r n en a  an  an  n n  e en  r gra  r re r e  an  energ  
n er a n n a  area   r era n

Ajinomoto (Malaysia) Berhad Environment Performance 2008

e A n  r  e   ng er  n r n en a  n er a n an  e a e  n a  ear  a  re e  n r er  
a a e ange  n e erna  an  n erna  r an e  A n  a a a  er a  a  a  re e   ree ear  an    

 a r ng  e ne  re n  e n n e   r en   e en r n en  r e n an  re er a n  r er 
re ng en r n en  r en er e  r  r ne  a e  

rren  A n  a a a  er a   ng ea  ar  a e ng e  A n  r  er  n an  
anne  a e   re e green e ga e  a  een e en e  an  n n  r e  r  e  e  e a  n r gen 

n e na  arge a er a  re e  r     e    an  e  a e re er  ra  n rea e  r     
r g  r er egrega n an  re ng a e

A n  a a a  er a  n n e  a ng e r  n energ  a ng a e  a n  ng n re n  e e r  a er an  
ea  n n  e e  a e e  gn an  re n n   a  n r e   e an a  re n n r 
era n 

n  A n  a a a  er a  a  e  e en e    er a n   a  a re  n e r ar   
 ar   r ng e ar   re a e en  a  ere a  n  n n n r  ra e    A  e e  er a n 

a  een a  e en e      e ne  a re  a a e r n ne  
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AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD
(Company No. 4295-W)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Form Of Proxy Form Of Proxy (Contd.)

* Strike out whichever not applicable

As witness my/our hand(s) this .................. day of ........................................, 2009

 ............................................................………
   Signature of Member/Common Seal

Notes: -

1. In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 10 August 2009 
(“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting. 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. A 
proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and a member may appoint any person to be his proxy and the 
provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company.

3. A holder may appoint more than two (2) proxies to attend the same meeting. Where a holder appoints two or more 
proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy. Only one (1) of the proxies 
is entitled to vote on a show of hands.

4. The instrument appointing proxy, shall be in print or writing under the hand of the appointer or his duly constituted 
attorney, or if such appointer is a corporation, under its common seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly 
authorised.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time fixed for 
holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof.

*I/We, (full name in capital letters) …………………………….........................................................................…….......................……...............

of (full address) .................................................................................................................................... being a *member/members of 

AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (“the Company”), hereby appoint (full name in capital letters) …...................................................

.................……………………………................................................ NRIC No. .................................................................................................

of (full address)............................................................................................................................................…………….........……………........

or failing *him/her, (full name in capital letters).................................................................................................................…………….......

.................……………………………................................................ NRIC No. .................................................................................................

of (full address)............................................................................................................................................……………..............................

or failing *him/her, the *CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Forty-
Eighth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at its Bukit Jalil Golf Resort & Country Resort, Jalan 3/155B,Bukit 
Jalil,57000 Kuala Lumpur on Monday, 17 August 2009 at 11:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

The proportions of my/our holding to be represented by my/our proxies are as follows: -

  First Proxy “A” %
  Second Proxy “B” %
 
    100%
 
In the case of a vote by a show of hands, my proxy (one only) shall vote on *my/our behalf.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided below as to how you wish your votes to be casted. If no specific direction as to 
voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. 

NO. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST
 
1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2009 

together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.
 
2. To declare a first and final dividend of 8 sen per share less 25% income tax and a special 

dividend of 9 sen tax exempt per share for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.
 
3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 31 March 2009.
 
4. To re-elect Mr. Gew Ah Lek who retires in accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.
 
5. To re-elect Dato’ Professor (Dr.) Teo Chiang Liang who retires in accordance with Article 

116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for 
re-election.

 
6. To re-elect Mr. Makoto Tatsumi who retires in accordance with Article 116 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

NO. RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST
 
7. To re-elect Mr. Hiroshi Amano who retires in accordance with Article 122 of the 

Company’s Articles of Association, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-
election.

 
8. To re-appoint General Tan Sri (Dr) Dato’ Paduka Mohamed Hashim Bin Mohd Ali (Rtd) 

who is due to retire pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, and being 
eligible, has offered himself for re-election.

 
9. To re-appoint Dr. Goh Chin Siew who is due to retire pursuant to Section 129 of the 

Companies Act, 1965, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election.
 
10. To re-appoint Dato’ Hj. Shaharuddin Bin Hj. Haron who is due to retire pursuant to 

Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965, and being eligible, has offered himself for re-
election.

 
11. To re-appoint Messrs. Hanafiah Raslan & Mohamad as Auditors of the Company until 

the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting and to authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration.

 
12. As Special Business
 Ordinary Resolution No. 1
 Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965.
 
13. Ordinary Resolution No. 2 
 Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate and Proposed Shareholders’ New 

Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature.

Number of shares held :



Stamp

The Company Secretary

AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (4295-W)

c/o Securities Services (Holding) Sdn. Bhd.

Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, 

Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights,

50490 Kuala Lumpur.

Fold Here

Fold Here

Form Of Proxy

Form Of Proxy

AJINOMOTO (MALAYSIA) BERHAD (4295-W)



Vono® brings to you the fresh new catchy package design! This new design 
features the fresh morning concept with appetising soup visual. Vono®  
continues to provide the naturally delicious breakfast to you every morning!

Vono® in 
    NEW Image



AJINOMOTO ( MALAYSIA) BERH AD (4295-W)

Lot 5710, Jalan Kuchai Lama,
Petaling, 58200 Kuala Lumpur.
Tel   : 603  7980 6958
Fax  : 603  7981 1731
W ebsite: www.ajinomoto.com.my
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